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INTRODUCTION1

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB” or “Bureau”) and the
Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) continue to be active under the Fair Credit

Reporting Act (“FCRA”).2 In prior years, this survey focused on legislation,

enforcement, and litigation, but, with an activist CFPB focusing on ex ante reg-
ulation, rather than ex post enforcement, this survey primarily focuses on ru-

lemaking and interpretation. Given this focus, we expect next year’s survey

to cover an increasing number of legal and Administrative Procedure Act chal-
lenges to the CFPB’s regulatory determinations.

REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

During the period covered by this survey, the CFPB has continued to sharpen

its regulatory focus on the credit reporting industry. The CFPB issued two advi-

sory opinions, one addressing background check procedures, and another dis-
cussing credit file sharing. In addition, the CFPB issued a proposed rule that

would further restrict the inclusion and use of medical debt on consumer re-

ports. Finally, while still in its preliminary stages, the CFPB has described a po-
tential rulemaking to regulate “data brokers” under the FCRA.

ADVISORY OPINION ON BACKGROUND CHECKS

In January 2024, the CFPB released an advisory opinion addressing back-

ground checks.3 This advisory opinion “affirms” that, in order to satisfy the

* Andrew Smith is a partner in the Washington, D.C. office of Covington & Burling, LLP. Lucy
Bartholomew is Of Counsel in Covington’s Washington, D.C. office. Mr. Smith is the former chair
of the Consumer Financial Services Committee of the Business Law Section of the American Bar
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1. This survey is one in a series of works covering recent updates in various areas of consumer finan-

cial services law. For an overview of the other surveys in this issue of The Business Lawyer, see John L.
Ropiequet, Eric J. Mogilnicki, Sabrina A. Neff & Christopher K. Odinet, Introduction to the 2025 Annual
Survey of Consumer Financial Services Law, 80 BUS. LAW. 531 (2025) (in this Annual Survey).
2. Pub. L. No. 91-508, tit. VI, 84 Stat. 1114, 1127–36 (1970) (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C.

§§ 1681–1681x (2024)).
3. Fair Credit Reporting; Background Screening, 89 Fed. Reg. 4171 ( Jan. 23, 2024) [herein-

after Background Screening]; see also Press Release, Consumer Fin. Prot. Bureau, CFPB Addresses
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requirement that consumer reporting agencies maintain procedures to ensure
maximum possible accuracy under section 607(b) of the FCRA,4 background

screening firms must have procedures in place to prevent duplicative public re-

cord information5 and information that has been “expunged, sealed, or other-
wise legally restricted from public access” from appearing in background checks;

and to ensure that existing disposition information regarding criminal charges,

arrests, eviction proceedings, or other court filings are included in background
checks.6

With respect to “legally restricted” information, the CFPB interprets the FCRA

to prohibit the reporting of consumer report information that would not be pub-
licly available to users due to state or government entity restrictions.7 According

to the CFPB, consumer reporting agencies must maintain procedures to ensure

that “any inclusion of charges or arrest records in a consumer report complies
with the law in the relevant jurisdiction from which the record originates.”8

Moreover, consumer reporting agencies must ensure that they include any exist-

ing disposition information if they are reporting a court filing.9 The FCRA pro-
hibits most adverse information—including arrests, evictions, and other public

record information—from appearing in a background check report for more

than seven years.10 In the advisory opinion, the CFPB makes clear that the “oc-
currence” of the adverse event11 starts the clock for the adverse-item period, and

that the period does not restart or reopen by the occurrence of subsequent

events.12

ADVISORY OPINION ON FILE DISCLOSURES

Under section 609(a) of the FCRA, consumer reporting agencies must clearly
and accurately disclose to consumers “[a]ll information in the consumer’s file at

the time of the request” and “[t]he sources of information.”13 A second CFPB

Inaccurate Background Check Reports and Sloppy Credit File Sharing Practices ( Jan. 11, 2024),
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-addresses-inaccurate-background-
check-reports-and-sloppy-credit-file-sharing-practices/.

4. Background Screening, supra note 3, at 4171. The CFPB defines “background checks” to in-
clude tenant screening and employment reports. Id. at 4172; see 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b).

5. The advisory opinion lists, as examples, the “inclusion of multiple entries for the same crim-
inal conviction” and the reporting of “multiple stages of the same court proceeding.” Background
Screening, supra note 3, at 4174. In the latter case, the advisory opinion states that consumer report-
ing agencies must have “procedures in place to ensure that information regarding the stages of these
court proceedings . . . is presented in a way that makes clear the stages all relate to the same proceed-
ing or case and does not inaccurately suggest that multiple proceedings or cases have occurred.” Id.

6. Id.
7. Id. at 4174.
8. Id.
9. Id.
10. 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a)(5) (2024).
11. To the CFPB, the “occurrence” is the “date of entry” for records of arrest or the date of the

criminal charge for other non-conviction criminal record information, not the disposition date. Back-
ground Screening, supra note 3, at 4175.
12. Id.
13. 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a)(1), (2) (2024).
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advisory opinion, released on the same day as the background checks opinion,
addresses consumer reporting agencies’ obligations to provide the so-called “file

disclosures.”14

The advisory opinion indicates that consumers do not need to use specific lan-
guage, such as “file” or “complete file,” to trigger a file disclosure.15 Rather, the

CFPB interprets section 609(a) “to require consumer reporting agencies to provide

a file disclosure upon receipt of a ‘request’ from a consumer who provides proper
identification even if the consumer does not use the specific term ‘request,’ ‘file,’

‘complete file,’ or any other specific words in making such request.”16 To trigger

section 609(a), consumers must only provide proper identification and make a
“request.”17 Furthermore, according to the CFPB, a consumer’s request for a

“credit report,” “report,” “file,” “record,” or “consumer report” would trigger the

file disclosure requirements.18

The advisory opinion also describes specific requirements regarding informa-

tion that consumer reporting agencies must disclose to consumers under section

609(a).19 Focusing on the obligation to “clearly and accurately” disclose informa-
tion, the advisory opinion explains that the file disclosure must be “understand-

able to the average consumer.”20 According to the CFPB, the file disclosure

“must assist a consumer in identifying inaccuracies in their file, exercising
their rights to dispute any incomplete or inaccurate information, and knowing

when they are being impacted by adverse information in their file.”21

The advisory opinion also highlights that section 609(a) requires a disclosure
of “all information in the consumer’s file at the time of the request, including,

among other things, all information the consumer reporting agency provided

or might provide to a user.”22 When a consumer reporting agency provides sum-
marized information to a user, section 609(a) requires that the consumer report-

ing agency disclose to the consumer the information that formed the basis of the

summarized information.23 The CFPB further states that the file disclosure must
accurately reflect information that was provided, or that might be provided, to

users, including, for example, duplicative listings for a single case.24 Moreover,

the advisory opinion indicates that there are a number of situations where a con-
sumer reporting agency must provide information that is not or would not be

included in a user report, such as when only summarized information, such

as a credit or risk score, recommendation, or a tenant screening score, is

14. Fair Credit Reporting; File Disclosure, 89 Fed. Reg. 4167 ( Jan. 23, 2024).
15. Id. at 4169.
16. Id.
17. Id.
18. Id.
19. Id. at 4169–70.
20. Id. at 4169.
21. Id.
22. Id.
23. Id. at 4169–70.
24. Id. at 4170.
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provided to users.25 In these circumstances, the CFPB interprets the FCRA to re-
quire disclosure of the information that formed the basis of the summarized in-

formation to the user.26

Under the advisory opinion, FCRA section 609(a)(2) requires that file disclo-
sures include the “source” of the information in the file. The opinion explains

that consumer reporting agencies must disclose the original source of informa-

tion and any “intermediary or vendor source[s].”27 By way of example, the
CFPB explains that it has become aware that some consumer reporting agencies

that acquire public records, including eviction proceedings, from vendors are

disclosing only the jurisdiction for the records (e.g., a county court), but not
the intermediary or vendor source for those records that provided the informa-

tion from the original source to the consumer reporting agency.28 In these cases,

the CFPB expects consumer reporting agencies to disclose both the original and
vendor source for this information.29

MEDICAL INFORMATION RULE

In June 2024, the CFPB issued a proposed rule that would restrict the inclu-

sion and use of medical debt on consumer reports.30 If promulgated as a final

rule, creditors would be prohibited from using or obtaining medical debt infor-
mation for credit eligibility determinations, except that a creditor could use infor-

mation about medical income or the purpose of a loan to qualify the consumer for

the loan.31 In addition, the proposed rule would create a new limitation on con-
sumer reporting agencies that would prohibit them from furnishing consumer re-

ports containing medical debt information.32 Comments on the proposed rule

were due on August 11, 2024.33

Under the current legal framework, creditors can obtain and use the medical

information if:

(i) The information is the type of information routinely used in making credit eligi-

bility determinations, such as information relating to debts, expenses, income, ben-

efits, assets, collateral, or the purpose of the loan, including the use of proceeds;

(ii) The creditor uses the medical information in a manner and to an extent that is no

less favorable than it would use comparable information that is not medical infor-

mation in a credit transaction; and

25. Id.
26. Id.
27. Id.
28. Id.
29. Id.
30. Prohibition on Creditors and Consumer Reporting Agencies Concerning Medical Information

(Regulation V), 89 Fed. Reg. 51682 (proposed June 18, 2024) (to be codified at 12 C.F.R. pt. 1022)
[hereinafter Medical Information].
31. Id. at 51735–36.
32. Id.
33. Id. at 51682.
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(iii) The creditor does not take the consumer’s physical, mental, or behavioral health,

condition or history, type of treatment, or prognosis into account as part of any such

determination.34

The proposed rule would amend this language to prohibit the use of medical

debt information in connection with credit decisions, but retain exceptions for
medical information relating to income, benefits, and the purpose of the loan,

including the use of proceeds.35 Creditors would also be permitted to use med-

ical debt to determine consumers’ eligibility for the reactivation of a debt cancel-
lation contract, debt suspension agreement, or credit insurance product, but

only if the medical condition or event is a “triggering event” for benefits under

the contract or agreement.36

The proposed rule would also prohibit consumer reporting agencies from fur-

nishing medical debt information to creditors in connection with credit eligibil-

ity determinations.37 Specifically, the proposed rule would permit consumer re-
porting agencies to include medical debt information in consumer reports

provided to creditors for credit eligibility purposes only when: “the consumer

reporting agency has reason to believe the creditor is not prohibited from obtain-
ing or using the medical information under [the revised section 1022.30]”; and

“the consumer reporting agency is not otherwise prohibited from furnishing to

the creditor a consumer report containing the medical debt information, includ-
ing by a State law that prohibits furnishing to the creditor a consumer report

containing medical debt information.”38

DATA BROKERS RULEMAKING

In March 2023, the CFPB released a request for information regarding the

business practices of data brokers, which sought input on the types of informa-

tion data brokers collect and sell, and the data sources from which these data
brokers obtain the information.39 The CFPB followed up with a frequently

asked questions (“FAQ”) document indicating that the CFPB would be issuing
a proposed rule under the FCRA “to address business practices used by compa-

nies that assemble and monetize our data.”40 According to the CFPB, the purpose

of the proposed rule would be to “ensure the public is protected from modern-
day data brokers.”41 The FAQ document outlined the major components of the

forthcoming proposal, including capturing additional companies that sell certain

34. 12 C.F.R. § 1022.30(d) (2024).
35. Medical Information, supra note 30, at 51735–36.
36. Id. at 51735–36.
37. Id. at 51736.
38. Id.
39. Request for Information Regarding Data Brokers and Other Business Practices Involving the

Collection and Sale of Consumer Information, 88 Fed. Reg. 16951 (Mar. 21, 2023).
40. Consumer Fin. Prot. Bureau, Protecting the Public from Data Brokers in the Surveillance In-

dustry 1 (Aug. 15, 2023), https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfpb-data-broker-rulemak
ing-faq_2023-08.pdf.
41. Id. at 2.
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data, clarifying the extent to which “credit header data” would constitute a con-
sumer report, and describing the circumstances under which it would be appro-

priate for data brokers to sell credit header data.42

In September 2023, the CFPB released an outline of proposals and alternatives
(“Outline”) for the proposed data broker rule ahead of the required Small Busi-

ness Advisory Review Panel meeting.43 In the Outline, the CFPB described a

range of companies it considers to be “data brokers,” including companies
that purchase or collect information from public sources, such as courthouses,

and those that purchase or collect private information, including financial or

health information.44

The Outline states that the CFPB is considering proposing a rule that would

deem consumer information provided to a user who uses it for a permissible

purpose a “consumer report” under the FCRA.45 Under the rule, this information
would be a “consumer report” regardless of whether the data broker knew or

should have known that the user would use the information for that permissible

purpose.46 If the CFPB adopts this proposal, any consumer information pro-
vided to a user who uses it for a permissible purpose would constitute a “con-

sumer report,” regardless of specific guardrails that the data broker puts in

place to prevent misuse of non-FCRA information, such as contractual restric-
tions or misuse detection programs. This would have a significant impact on

companies that offer fraud detection products, which have traditionally been

viewed as not covered by the FCRA.47

The Outline also describes a proposal to designate data brokers that sell spe-

cific types of data—specifically, data typically used for credit and employment

eligibility determinations—as consumer reporting agencies.48 As examples of
this kind of information, the CFPB references “a consumer’s payment history, in-

come, and criminal records” and indicates that this type of information would be

considered a “consumer report” regardless of the purpose for which the data was
used or collected.49

The Outline also discusses proposals regarding credit header data.50 Credit

header data includes consumer-identifying data, including name, social security
numbers, phone numbers, and current and former address. The Outline states

42. Id. at 2–3.
43. Consumer Fin. Prot. Bureau, Small Business Advisory Review Panel for Consumer Reporting

Rulemaking: Outline of Proposals Under Consideration (Sept. 15, 2023), https://files.consumerfi
nance.gov/f/documents/cfpb_consumer-reporting-rule-sbrefa_outline-of-proposals.pdf [hereinafter
Outline]; see 5 U.S.C. § 609 (2024).
44. Outline, supra note 43, at 8.
45. Id. at 7.
46. Id.
47. See, e.g., Kidd v. Thomson Reuters Corp., 925 F.3d 99 (2d Cir. 2019) (finding that Consolidated

Lead Evaluation and Reporting (CLEAR) reports were not consumer reports because the evidence
showed that the information was collected to provide reports to governmental agencies investigating
crimes and fraud).
48. Outline, supra note 43, at 8.
49. Id.
50. Id. at 10.
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that the CFPB is considering a proposal that would “reduce, perhaps signifi-
cantly, consumer reporting agencies’ ability to sell or otherwise disclose credit

header data from their consumer reporting databases without a permissible

purpose.”51 In explaining the rationale for this proposal, the CFPB references
“increased computing power and increased reliance on complex algorithms to

identify insights, [which] has resulted in credit header data being used more fre-

quently for eligibility determinations.”52 The FCRA closely restricts the “permis-
sible purposes” for which consumer report information can be provided. These

permissible purposes include credit underwriting, employment eligibility, eligi-

bility for government benefits, and other important transactions involving the
consumer who is the subject of the information, but do not include law enforce-

ment, theft prevention, research, and other important purposes.53 As a result, if

credit header data is subjected to the FCRA, it could no longer be used for law
enforcement—such as locating witnesses or suspects—or similar purposes.

The Outline includes proposals that would “clarify” permissible purposes for

which users can obtain consumer reports under the FCRA.54 Specifically, the
CFPB is considering whether to provide further clarification on what is needed

for a consumer to provide “written instructions” pursuant to section 604(a)(2) of

the FCRA.55 This proposal might include limits on the scope of written instruc-
tion authorization, required steps for obtaining written instructions, methods

that permit consumers to revoke these instructions, and limits on who can col-

lect the instructions.56

The Bureau is also considering proposals regarding the “legitimate business

need” permissible purpose that would indicate that this permissible purpose “re-

quires a transaction to have been initiated by the consumer for personal, family,
or household purposes and permits use of consumer reports only for the pur-

pose of determining the consumer’s eligibility for the business transaction,”

and “is an account review for which the use of a consumer report is actually
needed to make a decision about whether the consumer continues to meet the

terms of the account.”57

Finally, the Outline addresses disputes involving legal matters.58 The CFPB
acknowledges that some consumer reporting agencies and furnishers have at-

tempted to draw a distinction between a “legal” and a “factual” dispute, and

have taken the position that the FCRA requires only investigation of the latter.59

The CFPB takes the position that “[t]he FCRA does not distinguish between legal

and factual disputes, and accordingly, it does not exempt ‘legal disputes’ from its

requirement that consumer reporting agencies and furnishers must reasonably

51. Id.
52. Id.
53. 15 U.S.C. § 1681b (2024).
54. Outline, supra note 43, at 12–14.
55. 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(2) (2024).
56. Outline, supra note 43, at 12–13.
57. Id. at 13–14.
58. Id. at 15–16.
59. Id. at 15.
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investigate disputes.”60 As examples, the CFPB references state foreclosure law
interpretation disputes regarding whether debts are collectible, in addition to

contractual liability disputes related to obligations to pay.61 The CFPB is consid-

ering whether to “codify” this interpretation in the proposed rule.62

ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS CONCERNING CREDIT REPORTING

TRANSUNION ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

In October 2023, the CFPB announced two enforcement actions against

TransUnion (“TU”): one concerning its rental screening subsidiary, TransUnion
Rental Screening Solutions, Inc. (“TURSS”), and a separate action against TU re-

garding security freeze allegations.63 The enforcement action against TURSS was

joined by the FTC and was filed as a joint complaint and stipulated order in fed-
eral court.64 The security freeze action was brought by only the CFPB and was

settled as an administrative consent order.65

In the joint complaint against TURSS, the agencies alleged that the company
failed to follow reasonable procedures to assure the maximum possible accuracy

of eviction records in its tenant screening reports, and failed to identify third-

party vendors that provided criminal and eviction records in disclosures to con-
sumers.66 With respect to accuracy, the agencies alleged that TURSS violated

section 607(b) of the FCRA by: reporting multiple events relating to the same

eviction case; providing stale or inaccurate case dispositions for eviction pro-
ceedings; labeling amounts in dispute as “judgment amounts;” and failing to pre-

vent the inclusion of sealed records .67 The agencies also alleged that, in violation

of section 609(a) of the FCRA, TURSS did not disclose the third-party vendors
from which it obtained criminal and eviction proceeding records.68

The CFPB’s consent order against TU stemmed from an alleged backlog of ap-

proximately 40,000 security freeze and lock requests dating back to at least mid-
2018.69 The Bureau’s first allegation is that TU failed to timely place or remove

60. Id.
61. Id. at 15–16.
62. Id. at 16.
63. Press Release, Consumer Fin. Prot. Bureau, CFPB and FTC Take Actions Against TransUnion

for Illegal Rental Background Check and Credit Reporting Practices (Oct. 12, 2023), https://www.
consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-ftc-take-actions-against-transunion-illegal-rental-
background-check-and-credit-reporting-practices/.
64. Complaint, FTC v. TransUnion Rental Screening Sols., Inc., No. 23-cv-2659 (D. Colo. Oct. 12,

2023) [hereinafter TURSS Complaint]; Stipulated Order for Permanent Injunction, FTC v. TransUnion
Rental Screening Sols., Inc., No. 23-cv-2659 (Oct. 18, 2023) [hereinafter TURSS Order].
65. In re TransUnion, No. 2023-CFPB-0011 (Oct. 12, 2023) [hereinafter TU Consent Order].
66. TURSS Complaint, supra note 64, at 7–14. These allegations are quite similar to the discussion

in the CFPB’s background screening advisory opinion, discussed at supra note 3.
67. TURSS Complaint, supra note 64, at 7–12.
68. Id. at 12–14. See 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a) (2024).
69. Press Release, Consumer Fin. Prot. Bureau, CFPB and FTC Take Actions Against TransUnion

for Illegal Rental Background Check and Credit Reporting Practices (Oct. 12, 2023), https://www.
consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-ftc-take-actions-against-transunion-illegal-rental-
background-check-and-credit-reporting-practices/.
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security freezes and locks in violation of FCRA section 605A(i)(2), ( j)(2), (i)(3),
and ( j)(4)(c), while falsely representing to consumers that the request was pro-

cessed.70 The Bureau found that these failures constituted unfair and deceptive

acts or practices under the Consumer Financial Protection Act.71 The second al-
legation concerned prescreening lists—specifically, that TU unlawfully failed to

exclude active-duty military members and potential victims of identity theft from

pre-screened solicitation lists in violation of FCRA section 605A(b)(1)(B) and
(c)(2).72 The consent order requires TU to pay $3 million in consumer redress

and a $5 million civil money penalty.73 The consent order also requires TU to

take a number of affirmative steps, including creating a committee to identify
and assess potential consumer risks related to ongoing or recurring technology

issues and to take appropriate remedial steps.74

TRUTHFINDER AND INSTANT CHECKMATE

In September 2023, the FTC filed an enforcement action against TruthFinder

and Instant Checkmate,75 alleging that the two companies operated as “con-
sumer reporting agencies” under the FCRA and failed to comply with several

provisions of the FCRA that apply to consumer reporting agencies.76 TruthFin-

der and Instant Checkmate offer people search services to consumers and busi-
nesses. A consumer reporting agency is defined, in pertinent part, as a person

who assembles or evaluates information on consumers for the purpose of provid-

ing consumer reports such as, credit reports, background screening reports, or
tenant screening reports to third parties.77

The FTC alleged that TruthFinder and Instant Checkmate were consumer re-

porting agencies, despite disclaimers on the companies’ websites stating that they
do not assemble or evaluate data for the purpose of providing consumer reports

to third parties.78 To support its case, the FTC alleged that the two companies

used search engine advertising keywords that relate to employment and tenant
screening, such as “best background check for landlords” and “pre-employment

screening” to promote the use of both Instant Checkmate and TruthFinder back-

ground reports for use in employment and tenant screening, directing Microsoft
and Google to display Instant Checkmate and TruthFinder advertisements when

consumers search for words or phrases relating to background screening.79 In

addition, the FTC alleged that the companies selected the “broad” match setting
for Microsoft and Google advertising keywords containing terms that relate to

70. TU Consent Order, supra note 65, at 24–27.
71. Id. at 28–31.
72. Id. at 27.
73. Id. at 38, 40.
74. Id. at 31–35.
75. Complaint, FTC v. Instant Checkmate, LLC, No. 23-cv-01674 (S.D. Cal. Sept. 11, 2023)

[hereinafter Instant Checkmate Complaint].
76. Id. at 15–19.
77. 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f ) (2024).
78. Instant Checkmate Complaint, supra note 75, at 11–15.
79. Id. at 6–7, 13–14.
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employment, tenant, or credit screening under the FCRA.80 The “broad” match
setting instructs Microsoft or Google to display advertisements when consumers

and businesses search for not only the keyword itself but also synonyms and re-

lated terms.81 The FTC also alleged that the companies actually knew that their
customers have regularly used Instant Checkmate and TruthFinder background

reports for employment and tenant screening, and, in numerous instances, cus-

tomers directly communicated to defendants, including by e-mail and phone
calls, that they had used or were using Instant Checkmate and TruthFinder

background reports for employment or tenant screening.82

Thus, the FTC alleged that the two companies were consumer reporting agen-
cies, not based on their direct statements or marketing of their products for

background screening purposes, but on the fact that they promoted their web-

sites to individuals searching for specific background screening–related terms.83

The FTC further alleged that Instant Checkmate and TruthFinder had violated

various technical provisions of the FCRA,84 which is perhaps unsurprising

given that the two companies did not consider themselves to be consumer re-
porting agencies governed by the FCRA. The companies resolved the matter

by consenting to the entry of a permanent injunction in which they agreed to

pay a $5.8 million penalty and, among other things, establish, implement, and
maintain a comprehensive monitoring program to regularly review, assess, and

determine the extent to which each company is operating in whole or in part

as a consumer reporting agency.85

TD BANK ENFORCEMENT ACTION

In September 2024, the CFPB entered into a consent order with TD Bank re-
lated to allegations that the bank furnished inaccurate information about con-

sumers.86 One allegation involved the bank’s failure to enter data from a

third-party collections company regarding consumer payments into its system
of record, which resulted in the bank not furnishing payments information to

consumer reporting agencies as part of routine reporting regarding credit card

information.87 In addition, the bank allegedly inaccurately and incompletely fur-
nished the bankruptcy status of credit accounts by failing to indicate the status of

accounts in bankruptcy (e.g., petition filed, discharged, withdrawn, or dis-

missed); furnishing information about credit cards in discharged status for sev-
eral months, as opposed to only the month in which the discharge occurred,

80. Id. at 14.
81. Id.
82. Id. at 15.
83. Id. at 12–15.
84. Id. at 15–19.
85. Stipulated Order for Permanent Injunction, Civil Penalty Judgment, and Other Relief, FTC v.

Instant Checkmate, LLC, No. 23-cv-01674 (S.D. Cal. Oct. 11, 2023).
86. In re TD Bank, N.A., No. 2024-CFPB-0009 (Sept. 11, 2024), https://files.consumerfinance.

gov/f/documents/cfpb_td-bank-na-consent-order_2024-09.pdf [hereinafter TD Bank Consent
Order].
87. Id. at 9–10.
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which the Bureau considered to be “industry standard under the Metro 2 for-
mat;” and failing to accurately furnish information about the correct bankruptcy

chapter for discharged credit card accounts.88 In the consent order, the Bureau

alleged that the bank failed to establish and implement reasonable policies and
procedures regarding furnished information.89 The Bureau also alleged that the

bank failed to promptly correct inaccurate incomplete information furnished to

consumer reporting agencies after it detected issues.90

Another set of allegations involved the reporting of information about “hun-

dreds of thousands” of deposit account openings that the bank either suspected

or had confirmed to be fraudulent.91 The Bureau alleged that the bank identified
a large number of suspected or confirmed fraudulent accounts in January 2022,

but did not fully correct the issue until August 2023.92 As a result of these prac-

tices, the Bureau alleged that the bank failed to promptly correct information fur-
nished to nationwide specialty consumer reporting agencies in violation of FCRA

section 1681s-2(a)(2), and failed to establish and implement reasonable proce-

dures regarding the furnishing of deposit account information.93 In addition,
the consent order described alleged issues regarding the reporting of dates of

first delinquency and the proper reporting of account status, consistent with

the CARES Act amendments to the FCRA regarding accommodation programs.94

Finally, the CFPB alleged that the bank did not have sufficient processes in place

to reasonably and timely investigate direct and indirect disputes from consumers

pursuant to section 611.95 It alleged that the bank redirected resources away
from dispute investigation “to prioritize a separate regulatory matter.”96 The Bureau

considered these allegations to constitute abusive acts or practices under the Con-

sumer Financial Protection Act because the bank took unreasonable advantage of
the inability of consumers to protect their interests in selecting or using a consumer

financial product or service.97 In reaching this conclusion, the CFPB noted that the

bank decided to divert resources away from dispute investigations, which “took
away the consumer’s ability to protect themselves against inaccurate information

on their credit report.”98 The Bureau also alleged that the bank failed to properly

notify consumers of disputes the bank deemed as “frivolous or irrelevant.”99

As a result of these findings, the CFPB ordered the bank to pay a $20 million

civil money penalty and $7.76 million in redress to impacted consumers.100 It

88. Id. at 12–13.
89. Id. at 2.
90. Id. at 1–2.
91. Id. at 25–26.
92. Id. at 26.
93. Id. at 25–26; 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2) (2024).
94. TD Bank Consent Order, supra note 86, at 14–15, 23–25; see 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1)(F)(ii)

(2024).
95. TD Bank Consent Order, supra note 86, at 15–19.
96. Id. at 16.
97. Id. at 17–19; see 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), (d)(2)(B), 5536(a)(1)(B) (2024).
98. TD Bank Consent Order, supra note 86, at 19.
99. Id. at 19–20.
100. Id. at 33, 38.
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also required that the bank adopt additional compliance monitoring and report-
ing, including board reporting, and develop a compliance plan that provides re-

porting to the CFPB, among other requirements.101

LITIGATION DEVELOPMENTS

GOVERNMENT AGENCIES NOT IMMUNE FROM FCRA LIABILITY

In Department of Agriculture Rural Development Rural Housing Service v.

Kirtz,102 the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that the FCRA operates as a waiver of

sovereign immunity and allows consumers to sue the government for violating
the duties imposed on furnishers.103 This decision appears to resolve a circuit

split with respect to whether a federal government agency is subject to the

FCRA private right of action.104 The Court held that the “FCRA effects a clear
waiver of sovereign immunity,” by authorizing “consumer suits for money dam-

ages against ‘[a]ny person’ who willfully or negligently fails to comply with [the

statute]” and “defining the term ‘person’ to include ‘any . . . governmental . . .
agency.’”105

LEGAL V. FACTUAL DISPUTES

As explained above, the CFPB has indicated its intention to propose rules requir-

ing that consumer reporting agencies and furnishers of information review and re-

solve disputes that require an interpretation of legal issues that could impact the
accuracy of underlying information.106 In recent cases, however, federal circuit

courts have adopted a different view on this question. Two cases decided during

the period of time covered by this Annual Survey addressed the issue of legal and
factual disputes and recognized the pointlessness of a consumer reporting agency,

or even a furnisher, trying to resolve issues that are essentially legal disputes.

In Holden v. Holiday Inn Club Vacations Inc.,107 the Eleventh Circuit considered
issues arising out of a dispute of information relating to the plaintiffs’ default on

promissory notes used to purchase time shares in Las Vegas and Cape Canav-

eral.108 The plaintiffs claimed that they no longer owed the money, because
the “sales transaction was fraudulently represented at the time of sale” or pro-

vided inaccurate information without properly re-investigating the dispute.109

The court declined to “impose a bright line that only purely factual or transcrip-
tion errors are actionable under the FCRA,” but nevertheless held that to be

101. Id. at 28–33, 41–44.
102. 601 U.S. 42, 64 (2024).
103. Id. at 64.
104. Compare Daniel v. Nat’l Park Serv., 891 F.3d 762 (9th Cir. 2018) (holding that the FCRA’s

general civil enforcement provisions do not waive federal sovereign immunity), with Bormes v. United
States, 759 F.3d 793 (7th Cir. 2014) (reaching the opposite conclusion).
105. Id. at 51.
106. See Outline, supra note 43, at 15–16.
107. 98 F.4th 1359 (11th Cir. 2024).
108. Id. at 1364.
109. Id.
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actionable, a claimed inaccuracy must be “objectively and readily verifi-
able.”110 The court explained that “the problem for [the plaintiffs] is that

the alleged inaccurate information is not objectively and readily verifiable be-

cause it stems from a contractual dispute without a straightforward answer,”
given the inconsistent results under applicable state law when interpreting

timeshare agreements like the ones in question.111 The court held that, in

any event, the defendant Holiday Inn, the furnisher of the information, had
determined that the debt was due and collectible, but it happened that the

plaintiffs disagreed with that determination.112

In Chaitoff v. Experian Information Solutions, Inc.,113 the plaintiff consumer
disputed information on his credit report with the defendant consumer report-

ing agency, claiming that the defendant made a mistake when it failed to note

on his credit report that he had signed an agreement with his mortgage lender
allowing him to make lower payments to avoid foreclosure.114 The lower court

held that any dispute about the existence or effect of this agreement was a legal

dispute, for which the defendant agency could not be held liable.115 Although
the Seventh Circuit agreed that legal disputes are beyond a consumer reporting

agency’s duty to investigate, it found that the dispute was factual rather than

legal.116 The defendant failed to report that the plaintiff entered a modified
payment plan with his lender, and the plaintiff claimed that the inaccuracy

prevented him from getting a subsequent loan, both of which are factual

issues.117

The Chaitoff court also held, however, that consumer reporting agencies are

immune from liability for credit report errors related to a legal dispute with re-

spect to a debt’s validity.118 The court explained that “‘the paradigmatic example
of a legal dispute is when the consumer argues that although his debt exists and

is reported in the right amount, it is invalid due to a violation of law,’” which is

beyond the knowledge of the consumer reporting agency.119 As a result, the
court acknowledged that, “[w]e have long held that [consumer reporting agen-

cies] are not well suited to adjudicate legal defenses to a debt, so they are not

liable for reporting information that may be legally inaccurate.”120

110. Id. at 1369.
111. Id. at 1368.
112. Id.
113. 79 F.4th 800 (7th Cir. 2023).
114. Id. at 808.
115. Id.
116. Id. at 814.
117. Id.
118. Id. at 814–15.
119. Id. at 815 (quoting Chuluunbat v. Experian Info. Sols., Inc., 4 F.4th 562, 567 (7th Cir.

2021)).
120. Id. at 814.
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FURNISHERS MAY NOT DECLINE TO INVESTIGATE INDIRECT DISPUTES AS

FRIVOLOUS

In Ingram v. Experian Information Solutions, Inc.,121 reversing a summary judg-

ment for the defendant debt collection agency and the defendant furnisher of in-
formation, the Third Circuit held that a furnisher of information to a consumer

reporting agency may not decide that a dispute referred to it by the consumer re-

porting agency is frivolous and on that basis decline to investigate.122 The plaintiff
filed a dispute regarding a fraudulent account with a consumer reporting agency,

which forwarded it to the defendant furnisher for investigation, as required by the

FCRA, and the plaintiff alleged that the furnisher failed to reasonably investigate
his dispute.123 The court recognized that a consumer reporting agency may de-

cline to investigate a frivolous dispute,124 and that a furnisher may decline to in-

vestigate a frivolous dispute when it is received directly from the consumer who is
the subject of the information,125 but that a furnisher has no discretion to decline

to investigate an indirect dispute forwarded to it by the consumer reporting

agency.126 Several lower courts had previously held that a furnisher had no ob-
ligation to investigate an indirect dispute where a consumer had not provided suf-

ficient information to enable the furnisher to conduct an investigation, reasoning

that without a “bona fide” dispute, there is nothing to investigate.127 The Ingram
court declined to adopt this reading of the statute, stating that Congress would

have provided furnishers with the ability to decline to investigate indirect dis-

putes, if it had intended to do so.128

121. 83 F.4th 231 (3d Cir. 2023).
122. Id. at 244.
123. Id. at 234–35.
124. 15 U.S.C. § 1681i (2025).
125. Id. § 1681s-2(a)(8)(F); 12 C.F.R. § 1022.43(f ) (2024).
126. Ingram, 83 F.4th at 241.
127. Id. at 242 (citing Aristy-Rosa v. U.S. Att’y Gen., 994 F.3d 112, 115 (3d Cir. 2021) (refusing

to imply in one part of a statute what Congress expressly provided for in another)).
128. Id.
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